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The Gloucestershire section of Domesday Book:
geographical problems of the text, part I

By JOHN S. MOORE

Introduction

The opportunity afforded to the present writer of editing the Gloucestershire section of
Domesday Book (hereafter DB), as part of a new translation of Domesday Book under the general
cditorship of the late Dr John Morris, has necessitated a thorough reappraisal of the text and its
problems. Though the Latin text was transcribed with quite astonishing accuracy by Abraham
Farley in his edition of 1783" — 1 have found only a few errors in comparing this, line by line,
with the Ordnance Survey facsimile issued in 18627 — no translations of the Gloucestershire
section have appeared since Rudder incorporated 1t in his New History and Bawden produced a
scparate translation in 1812 which is now very rare.” Neither of these can now be regarded as
satisfactory: their place-name identifications are often hopclessly wrong whilst Rudder’s version
could not utilize Farley’s authontative text which only appeared four years later, and the
fragmentation of his translation hopclessly destroyed the unity of the text of DB. Pardy because
the Domesday county did not entirely correspond to the later county and partly for other, more
obscure reasons, it is also necessary to consider out-county entries relating to Gloucestershire
places; these are included in the Phillimore series and, as we shall see, in some cases greatly
clarify the main county text. Above all, 1t 1s essential to idenuty persons and places (hundreds as
well as manors) correctly before proceeding to analyse the text geographically and to extract local
information; for this rcason alone, in addition to the problematical meaning of much of
Domesday’s terminology, 1t 1s possible that the attempt by Professor Darby’s team of
geographers to map DB’s information may have been somewhat premature.* Furthermore, the
work of Round and Maitland has completely demolished the hypothetical system of measure-
ments based on the fiscal hide which Taylor took over from Eyton’: our knowledge of any one
place in 1086 may well now be more sure though statistically less precise than would appcar from
Taylor’s now obsolete work. And though it might be imagined that Smith’s The Place Names of
Gloucestershire (hereafter PNG/) and Darby & Versey’s Domesday Gazetteer (hereatter DG) have
eliminated any problems of topographical identification, this 1s far from being the case; indecd,
some of the identifications in both these authoritics are at least dubious it not downright wrong.
Finally, if we are to reconstruct the hundreds of 1086 as a first step towards progressing beyond
Domesday into pre-Conquest times,® the Domesday text itself needs to be corrected either from
internal or later evidence. Here one must again take issue with Taylor who, though pointing out
that ‘there are some curious mistakes in the numbering of the owners’, went on 1o assert

‘The Commentator on the Gloucestershire Domesday must perforce, therefore, be a man of one book,
which is within the area which it covers its own interpreter, and from which there is no appeal; he may
ilustrate its statements bv reference to Abbey Chartularies and similar documents, and he may obtaint help
in the identification of properties by tracing their subsequent descent, but all such sources of information
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must be subordinated duly to the authority of the Great Inquest; they are servants, and cannot be aliowed
to correct, much less to contradict, the master work. | believe the text of the county Domesday to be almost
faultless . . . As Domesday Book was a work of man, there are also no doubt other mistakes and omissions,
but to acknowledge this is not to acknowledge that the man is living who can point them out and correct
them: emendations of the text of Domesday, and alterations of its statements are, 1 beheve, unmjustifiable
except in the rarest instances.”

An atutude, one would think, more appropriate in the cathedral canon towards his bishop or
dean than in a erineal historian towards his major source.

in ihe folfowing sections 1 propose to deal in turn with piaces not idenuned at aii by previous
writers (1), or wrongly identified (I1), with the identification of unnamed places styled, somewhat
inappropriately, ‘anonymous holdings’ by DG (I11), and, finally, with the differentiation of
multiple entries apparently or actually relating to the same arca under the same general name
(IV). Seetion III will appear as part 2, and Section IV will appear as parts 3 and 4. In referring to
individual entries I shall use the notation a, b, ¢, d to denote the four columns of each folio ® and |
shall further idenufy each entry by the chapter and paragraph numbers which are being
uniformly applied to the Phillimore scrics of translations: the chapter numbers have becn
italicized to disunguish them from the paragraph numbers; all references are to the Glo-
ucestershire section of the text unless prefixed by the abbreviation for another county. Names in
italics are the original form appearing in the text of DB,

SECTION I. PLACES PREVIOUSLY UNIDENTIFIED

In this scetion I shall deal with the identification of place-names not previously located, or the
identification of which has not been saustactorily cstablished. DG, 147-59, lists the following
names in the Gloucestershire section of DB as unidentified: Aldeberie in Rapsgate hundred (fol.
168¢, 50, 4); Chingestune, Chire and Cliftone in Westbury hundred (fol. 163a, 1, 11), Hundewic in
Greston hundred (fol. 163d, 1, 43), Ladeuent in Westbury hundred (fol. 163a, 1, 1), Lega in
Ledbury hundred (fol. 165b, 6, 7), Telifgge in Deerhurst hundred (tol. 166b, 19, 2), and Uletone in
Dudstone hundred (fol. 167¢, 36, 1).” To these must be added Alwintune, Brocote, Niware,
Rwirdin, Stantun and Wiboldingtune from the Herefordshire section of DB, since all these can be
proved to refer to places in Gloucestershire. In addition, some of the identifications in Taylor,
PNG!/ and DG are either wrong, e.g. Aluredstone (tol. 166d, 31, 2) as Allaston in Lydney and
Lechetone (fol. 170a, 71, 1) as Clapton-on-the Hill, or at lcast unproven and undocumented, c.g.
Merwen (tol. 162d, 1, 2) as Maisemore: much of the potential value of DG is lost because it
provides no justification for its controversial identifications in an area where these cannot be taken
tor granted. kqually, whilst a historian would be foolhardy to query the etymological expertisc
behind PNG/, the philologists have often paid too little attention to the facts of history. From a
linguistic point of view, Alwmune (fol. 185d, Herefs. 17, 1) could equally well be either
Alvington or Elton in Westbury: only the historian can make the correct choice of Alvington.
Simularly, Rodele (fol. 169a, 58, 2) was idenufied in PNG/ and DG as Rodley in Westbury though
an cqually satistactory etymological candidate is Ruddle in Newnham, which is historically the
only possible choice.
We must therefore begin by stating what are the adequate criteria for identification purposes:
. Textual criticism. Any proposal must not do violence to the accepted interpretation of the text
of DB, must be compatible with entries elsewhere in DB (which indeed are sometimes
sutficient in themselves to prove identification), and must not involve changing the substance
of the entry, its position in the text, or, except as a last resort, its hundredal rubrication. Any
proposed alterations to the orthography of DB must be justifiable on paleographical grounds
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in the hight of probable early medieval place-name formation.

Etymalagimlpmibz’lity Any 1dentification which does not accord with the derivations given in
PNGI/ should be in general ehminated, unless it can be satlsfaetorlly shown from historical
arguments that the PNG/ forms do not in fact relate to the place in question. ' Qccasionally,
as we shall see, human frailty has made nonsense of the logical rules of etymology, and
place-names rejected by philology can nevertheless be assigned on historical grounds to
certain places despite PNGIs omission. (This criterion does not of course apply in the case of
unnamed places).

Topographical possibility. Any identification suggested on etymological grounds for a manorial
name must lie in the area, normally the hundred, where the DB form is located, and, except
in the last resort, must also relate to a place that existed as an independent manor or can
definitely be shown to have been absorbed into another manor.

4. Tenurial bistory. ] . H. Round asscrted more than once that ‘the best of all proofs of identity 1s

afforded by feudal tenure and genealogical descent’!!, indeed in the case of unnamed
holdings this will usually be the only means of proving identity. Certainly, where adequate
historical evidence exists — and this 1s by no means always — any proposed i1dentification,
particularly between a choice of probabilitics, should be checked by tracing the later
ownership of the suggested place down to a point in time where its location on the modern
map can be proved; per contra, any proposed identification which 1s contradicted by such
historical evidence can be at once eliminated. Occasionally also, the pre-Domesday tenurial
history of an unidentified place may promotc some suggestions for its location, particularly if
the fission of a larger unit 1s suspected.

Fiscal history. A useful though not infallible check can be provided by the accordance of
proposed identifications with the known Anglo-Saxon preference for assessing geld-liabihty
on each village in multiples of 5 hides,' and the Anglo-Norman preference for assessing
military scrvice in terms of the knight's fee, sometimes equal to 4 hides'’ but, especially in
the West Country, often 5 hides.'* [ stress preference in both cases because neither rule is
invariable, and once military service ceased to be regularly levied on this basis after the 12th
century the rating of fees varied widely precisely because they had ceased to be of
contemporary significance. Moreover, the hidage of some estates 1s not given 1n DB (e.g.
Little Taynton: fol. 167¢, 37, 4), whilst in a few instances small estates have been carved out
of larger units and scparately rated without a corresponding reduction of the hidage of the
larger unit (c.g. the 15 virgates held by William of Eu (fol. 166d, 31, 6) and the half-hide held
by Roger of Lacy (fol. 167d, 39, 11) in Tidenham werc both stated to have been held by
Archbish()p Stigand and therefore clearly once formed part of his main manor of Tidenham
(fol. 164s, 1, 54), yet both DB and the kdwardian survey ot the manor show that the original
30-hide assessment nevertheless remained unchanged. '

To sum up, the statc of the historical evidence, especially 1n the Middle Ages, does not always
admit of drawing certain conclusions, and we shall have to be content with greater or lesser
probabilities: nevertheless the above criteria should at least help us to arrive at a judicious balance
of the probabilities if only by reducing their number. I shall now deal first with the scattered
individual places to be identified, in alphabetical order, betore considering en bloc the Westbury
entry and the Hercefordshire entries.

Aldeberie

This has not previously been satisfactorily identified, so we may begin by quoting the DB entry
on fol. 168¢ relating to 1t:
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‘50 LAND OF OSBERN GIFFARD. . ..

In RAPSGATE Hundred. . .
4 Osbern also holds Aldeberie, but it did not belong to the man Dunn’s land which Osbern holds [i.e.
Brimpsfield, the preceding entry], as the Shire says. Alric held it and could go where he would. 1 hide and
I plough. The value is and was 10s.’

That the medieval name Aldeberie, derived from OL ald and burh, “the old tortification’, normally

evolves into the modern Oldbury is abundantly clear from the better-documented instances in
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Therce is indeed a plethora of Oldbury names in Gloucestershire, occurring as field-names in
Arlingham, Eastington, Pucklechurch, Stapleton, Tewkesbury, Wick and Wickwar, as well as
the two parishes and ‘Oldbrough’ in Lemington; there was in addition an ‘Oldeburidich’ in
Saintbury.'® But as possible sites for the Aldeberie of 1086 they arc all non-starters, since at no
time were any of them in Rapsgate hundred; furthermore, with the exception of Oldbury Court
in Stapleton, they were never held by the Giffards of Brimpsfield or their main successors the
Berkeleys of Stoke Gifford. For this very reason Taylor tentatively scttled for Oldbury Courrt,
whilst A.H. Smith quite wrongly stated that Aldeberie (which he misspelt) was in Langley
hundred in 1086, in which case the only possible identification would be Oldbury-on-Severn, not
Oldbury in Wick which was always in the hundred of Pucklechurch.!” Oldbury-on-Severn has
the minor attraction of being next to Osbern Giffard’s manor of Rockhampton, which no doubt
cxplains why some other commentators accepted its identification with Aldeberie without
question, '® but it is a totally untenable identification on historical grounds, since it remained part
of Thornbury manor throughout the Middle Ages.'” We can also climinate Taylor’s location of
Aldeberie as Oldbury Court in Stapleton which was later held by the Berkeleys of Stoke Gifford,
since there is no reason to supposc that Aldeberie continued 1n the hands of the Giffards after the
12th century or ever came into the possession of the Berkeleys in the 14th century.

Having disposed of past guesswork, let us look again at our text: firstly it definitely statcs that
Aldeberie was in Rapsgate hundred; secondly, 1t distinctly implies that it was connected with but
separated from Brimpshield, ‘it did not belong to . . . Dunn’s land which Osbern holds’, Dunn
being Osbern’s Anglo-Saxon predecessor in all his other manors of Rockhampton, Stoke Gifford
and Brimpsfield; thirdly, if, as is usual, Domesday vills were assessed for geld purposes in units
or multiples of 5 hides, this would suggest that Aldeberie had once been part of Brimpsheld, since
Osbern’s manor there was rated at 9 hides and the total assessment for the vill, including 1 hide at
Aldeberie, would then be a neat 10 hides. We conclude that Aldeberie must be in or adjacent to
Brimpsfield, and almost certainly within Rapsgate hundred: as we shall see later, DB’s hundredal
rubrication is by no means perfect, but in only one case is it absolutely necessary to change thce
hundredal rubric in order to locate a previously unidentified manor; if onc indulged in such
changes wholesale, Domesday identification would become a lot easier but, alas, less secure. Nor
do we need to go far afield: perusal of the Rapsgate hundred section of PNG/, vol. 1 reveals that in
Elkstone, the parish immediately east of Brimpshield, there is a field-name Oldbury which Smith
recorded from a lcasc of 1537 and thc 1841 Tithe Map and Award.?’

Can we safely identify this Oldbury with DB’s Aldeberie? We can make a start by identifying
the 1 hide of Aldeberie in 1086 with the 1 hide at Aldeburbe given to the Templars by Osbern’s
descendant Elas Giffard of Bnimpsfield before 1185, when it was recorded as annexced to the
T'emplars’ main Gloucestershire manor of Temple Guiting. The editor of the Templars’ survey

of 1185 was unable to decide whether Aldeburbe was Oldbury-on-Severn, where at one point
Rudder located the Templars’ holding of Oldbury, or in Dowdeswell, which they also held,
where Rudder later located Oldbury.?! There is, however, no evidence whatever, apart from
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Rudder’s unsupported guesses, either that there was an Oldbury in Dowdeswell - it is not, tor
example, mentioned in the Dowdeswell manor court book for the late Tudor and Stuart period*’
— or that in or after 1086 the Giffards had ever held any part of Dowdeswell, which had been
given to the Templars before 1185 by William de Dowdeswell and remained in the possession of
his descendants as subtenants of the Templars down to the dissolution of that order in 1308 and
in their own right in the first half of the 14th century.”’ There is furthermore no evidence to
associate Elias Giffard’s gift of Aldeburbe with Oldbury-on-Severn apart from Rudder’s identifica-
tion as part of a very unsatisfactory discussion: the earls of Gloucester, who were lords of
Thornbury manor (including, as we have seen, Oldbury-on-Severn) in the 12th and 13th
centuries, gave only a small estate at the end of Gloucester Bridge to the Templars of
Gloucestershire.** In the 14th century Oldeburn (probably an error for Oldeburie), Oldebury or
Holdebury reappears as a member of Temple Guiting manor,” whilst in the 15th century 2
Cirencester Abbey record of the swit of court owed to Rapsgate hundred by the major
land-holders in the hundred during the 1420s mentions separatcly the main manor of Elkstone
held by Nicholas Poyntz and ‘the land and tenement of Willlam de Oldebury formerly
Wolwayn’s’ held by Robert Poyntz.*® In the t6th century Oldbury ceases to occur in national
records as one of the hamlets attached to Temple Guiting manor, probably as a result of
depopulation — it was still a single holding in the 1420s though by 1537 there was only a
sheephouse there — but the deeds by which Corpus Christi College, Oxford, secured Temple
Guiting manor between 1514 and 1529 consistently mention lands in Elkstone amongst the
appurtenances of Temple Guiting manor.”” The first explicit identifications of Oldbury with the
lands in Elkstone occurs in the Valor Ecclesiasticus of 1535, when ‘rents of land called Oldburn, £1°
are included under ‘Elston’ (Elkstone) as part of Temple Guiting manor, and a similar deseription
recurs in Temple Guiting surveys between 1517 and 1623. Its precise location and area can be
determined from a 1631 survey of the Elkstone manor estatec which mentions the rescerved rent of
£1 still paid to Corpus Christi College and a further survey and map of Elkstone in 1769-75.
These records enable Oldbury to be exactly located on the Elkstone Tithe Map and Award as
certainly comprising field nos. 161, 189-91, an arca of 69"2 acres, and probably also including
field nos. 159-60, 162, 193-8, a further 195 acres called Slaite (from OE sfaeget, ‘sheep pasture’),
as the ‘common pasture for sheep’ attached to Oldbury in 1537, at 5O 985127, forming a compact
block of about 264V acres on both sides of the Elkstone-Colesbourne road at Slutswell in the
north-east corner of Elkstone, separated from the rest of the parish by streams running north and
south from the central ridge.”® The etymological continuity is incontestable, and the full
elucidation of the tenurial history places the identifications of Aldeberie with Oldbury in Elkstone

beyond all reasonable doubt.

Hundewic

The identification of Hundewsc (fol. 163d, 1, 43) now presents no problem thanks to the work
done a decade ago by the then editor of VCH (Glos). In the early 1960s A.H. Smith noted the
existence of the field-name Hentage in Alderton which he described as ‘possibly an adaption of
Hundewic 1086 DB’, and in the addenda and corrigenda he noted some additional earlicr forms
supplied by C.R. Elrington, who by 1965 was thus able to assert positively that Hentage was
‘clearly the Hundewic of Domesday Book’. In 1086 Alderton, Dixton and Hentage already formed
a unified estate of 12 hides held by Humphrey the Chamberlain which it can be proved became
the later manor of Dixton. The identification of Hentage with Hundewic derives from the mention
of ‘enchewiche’ in the Alderton glebe terrier of 1584, represented in later glebe terriers as
‘Ensiche Furlong’ (1612), and ‘a furlong called Entage’. (1678). 'Though no such name occurs in
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the Alderton Enclosure Award of 1809, local oral t
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immediately east of Alderton village on the north side of the road trom Alderton to Stow-on-the-
Wold.*”
Lega

Lega (fol. 165b, 6, 7) has so far eluded identification, though Taylor quite rightly saw that as it
was In Ledbury (Letberg) hundred which also included Osbern Gittard’s manor of Stoke Giftord,
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was occasionally referred to as ‘in Saltmarsh’, hedged his bet by adding ‘but it might have been in
the adjacent part of Almondsbury’. 30 In support of this afterthought he ironically cited the
Cartulary of St Mark’s Hospital, Bristol, which, read with more care than he gave it, provides the
basis for a decisive identification with Lea in Almondsbury, a name still in use down to the
mid-19th century as one of the tithings of Almondsbury.?! The reference to the ‘Saltmarsh’ need
not detain us overlong: it was the name for a large area of alluvial marshland along the cast bank
of the Severn from Alkington to Avonmouth,** which in the early modern period became known
as the Upper and Lower Levels of Gloucestershire, comprising about 5500 acres between
Arlingham and Littleton-upon-Severn and about 6300 acres between Aust and the Avon,

including 200 acres known as Marsh Common in Almondsbury which, when enclosed 1n the
1820s, were divided between the manors of Almondsbury, Over and Lea

The references to the ‘Salemarsh’ do not therefore preclude the identification of Lega with Lea
in Almondsbury, and both the editor and the text of the Cartulary explicitly locate Lea within
Almondsbury: it is referred to as ‘La Lee by Over in Almondsbury’; ‘near Over Park’; which 1s
once called ‘the park of La Lee’; ‘around St. Swithin’s chapel’ which 1s sometimes called ‘the
chapel of La Lee’, sometimes ‘the free chapel of Over’. Even more significant i1s the scries of
charters dated between 1234 and 1250 by which Sir 'Thomas de Doynton as mesnc lord confirms
the purchase by Henry de Gaunt, founder of St Mark’s Hospital, of Earthcott and the Lea,
reserving to himself the service due for 1 knight’s fee, a transaction further confirmed by a later
lord of Doynton, Sir Thomas de 1racy, in 1317.H Sir ‘Thomas de Doynton is clearly the
successor of the Robert who in 1086 held from the Bishop of Coutances the three manors of
Doynton, Lega and Earthcott (fol. 165b, 6, 5, 7, 8). On both historical and topographical grounds
it 1s tempting to include Over within the Lega of 1086; as we have just seen, Over and Lea are
closely assoctated in 13th century records and in fact adjoin one another, whilst both the Bochans
and Gansels (from whom Henry de Gaunt purchased Lea and Earthcott) and the Gournay lords
of Over had a common ancestor in the 12th century. The Bochans and Gansels were descended
in the female line from Richard and Cecily Gansel, Cecily Gansel probably being a sister of
Robert Fitz Harding, whilst the Gournays were descended in the female line from Robert de
Were, third son of Robert Fitz Harding.?

T'he inclusion of Over within Lega, though topographically attractive and supported by the
common ancestry of their I3th century lords, is however open to two historical objections. In the
first place, whilst Lea and Earthcott were held ultimately from the Honour of Gloucester, Over
in the 13th century was held from the Beauchamp earls of Warwick. Their overlordship,
however, can be explained as an intrusion during the disturbed period after the death of King
John, since down to at least 1202 Robert de Gournay'’s father ‘1 homas of Harptree had also held
his land from the Honour of Gloucester.?® Not too much weight in any case should be attached to
mesne lordship, since contemporaries just as much as later historians were becoming confused by
the proliferation of successive subinfeudations, until the creation of new subtenancics was
prohibited by the statute Quia Emptores in 1290.
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Secondly, there is more substantial evidence which might suggest that in the 12th century
Over had been part of the manor of Almondsbury rather than of Lega. In or beforc Henry I's
reign, the abbey of Cormeilles had been granted lands and tithes in Cattybrook, Kaster Compton,
Kingston in Slimbridge, West Kingston in Hinton, Over and Tockington; of these Slhimbridge,
Hinton and Tockington were certainly members of the royal estate of Berkeley in 1086, and the
mention in the same charter of the adjoining areas of Cattybrook, Easter Compton and Over
could indicate that these were part of Almondsbury manor which in 1086 was also a member of
Berkeley (fol. 163a, I, 15, 17), especially since Easter Compton and part of Cattybrook remained
within Almondsbury manor.’” On the other hand, part of Cattybrook was included within Over
manor, and down to the 18th century Easter Compton, though part of Almondsbury manor, was
in Over tithing.’® Furthermore, there is no warrant for assuming that all the lands held by
Cormeilles Abbey in Henry I's time were recent grants from the royal estates: the major holdings
of the abbey recorded in Henry ITI's confirmation charter derived trom grants betore 1086 by
Ansfrid of Cormeilles at Elkstone and Pauntley (fol. 169d, 68, 9, 12) and karls Willlam and Roger

of Shrewsbury at Ashton-under-Hill, Beckford, Dymock and Newent (fols. 164a, b, 1, 51, 57-8,;
166a, 16, 1). Hence although most of the abbey’s south Gloucestershire holdings, being members

of Berkeley manor in 1086, must have originated in grants from either the Conqueror’s sons or
one of the Berkeleys, it does not necessarily follow that Over was also part of Almondsbury n
1086 or that the Berkeleys granted its tithes to Cormeilles Abbey.

Again, the mention of the wife of Richard Gansell in 1166 as holding 3 virgates of old
enfeoffment from Roger de Berkeley could be taken as referring to a subinfeudation ot Over from
Almondsbury before 1135. But Roger de Berkeley’s lordship could well be explained as the result
of his father having been given control of the lands of the Bishop of Coutances (the tenant-in-chiet
of Doynton, Earthcott and Lega in 1086) after the bishop’s death in 1093 or the torfeiture of his
nephew and heir Roger de Mowbray two years later and the resumption of these lands by the
Crown. It is known that most of the Bishop of Coutances’ estates later formed part of the Flonour
of Gloucester created by William Rufus for Robert Fitz Hamon, and we have already seen that
Farthcott, Lea and Over were all held of that honour.?” The inclusion of both Lea and Over in
the Lega of 1086 is also supported by a comparison of the assessments of 1086 (Lega: 1 hide) and
1166 (3 virgates): the missing virgate can probably be assigned to the manor of Brokenborough,
the origin and descent of which before the 14th century is obscure, but which can be located
north-cast of Over, at Sunday’s Hill: in 1441 it 1s definitely stated to be ‘in the fee of La Lee” and
in the 18th century was in the tithing of Gaunt’s Earthcott and the Lea.*

Certainly the philological identity of Lega and Lea, and the location of Lea in Almondsbury,
are both indisputable. Perhaps the best argument for the inclusion ot both Lea and Over 1s
topographical: St Swithin’s chapel, we recall, was in the 13th century sometimes styled ‘the
chapel of La Lee’, sometimes ‘the free chapel of Over’; its remains are still incorporated in the
modern St Swithin’s Farmhouse at ST 585815, which was almost certainly the site of Lega in
1086. Yet this site is in the north of the later Lea tithing near the boundary with Over manor, and
its location is therefore strong evidence that Lea and Over had once been united in DB’s Lega.
Since both Lea and Over were held by Cecily Gansel in the middle of the 12th century, and Lea

continued to be held by her descendants down to the 1230s, Over was presumably split off by
her and transferred to her brother Robert de Were, the ancestor of the Gournays who were lords

of Over till the 14th century, possibly as part of some re-arrangement of tamily lands after
Robert Fitz Harding’s death in 1171.

Thanks to the acquisition of Gaunt’s Earthcott and the Lea by Bristol Corporation in 1541, a
fine series of surveys and maps now in the B.R.O. enables Lea to be precisely located within the
parish of Almondsbury. Delineating the boundaries of Over present rather greater difhculties,
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aiven the apparent absence of later estate records for that manor, bur this can be achieved by
eliminating thosc arcas of Almondsbury parish known tfrom survtving maps and surveys to be
within the manors of Almondsbury (in which Brokenborough has been absorbed by the early
[7th century), Gaunt’s Earthcott and Lea, and the results thus achieved are confirmed by the
names of earlier owners of OQver manor noted as the owners of adjoining lands 1n some of these
maps.*! The original connection between Lca and Over manors 1s born out by the way 1in which
their lands fit together when their boundaries are reconstttuted. With the purchase of Lca by

Robert Cann Lippincott, lord of Over manor, from Bristol (,orporatlon early i 1838, thc two
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Telinge

The case of Telinge (fol. 166b, 19, 2) does not present any great ditficulty, since only its precise
location remains to be ascertained. A.H. Smith satisfactorily explained its DB form as a
misundcrstanding by the Norman clerks responsible for DB of the OE aer elinge, ‘a placc where
cels were trapped’; he noted its later appearancc as Ellings and Elands in Tirley and tts
identification, at lcast etymologically, with Yellings in Chaccley, the parish immediately north of
Tirley, and with Nellyns or Nellings in Deerhurst, immediately east of Tirley across the River
Severn.® On grounds of topography and etymology alone, we would expect to find Ellings on
the west bank of the Severn in Tirley, at or near the Chaceley boundary. The later tenurial
history of Ellings enables us to confirm this broad location: because 1t was held from Westminster
Abbey since before 1066, it was included, with Rye manor also held from Westminster Abbey,
in Westminster hundred when that hundred was formed in the t4th century. lLater maps show
that T'irley was adminstratively divided into threc parts: the west and cast lay in Westminster
hundred, and the centre in Deerhurst hundred. It 1s known that Ryc and Lllings in D8 came to
be represented later by Apperley’s Court and from the 16th century by Tirley Court: both can be
located 1n the castern part of Tirley which was later within Westminster hundred, ™ but though
the later centre was at Tirley Court, the original scttlement from which the DB manor of Ellings
derived its namc lay further to the north-cast, on the hank of the Severn, as the name Ellings
itself implies. The Ordnance Survey map still marks this riverine arca as ‘hable to floods’, and
this no doubt explains why, when Ellings was amalgamated with Rye manor, 1t was Rye that
became the centre of the combined cstate, though the hidage figures of 1086 suggcest that Ellings
(2 hides) was then considerably larger than Rye (22 virgates).

Yellings in Chaceley can be preciscly located on the Chaccley Tithe Map and Award of 1840 as
ficld nos. 428-40, 468-71, called ‘Yellings Meadow’ and “T'he Yellings’, an area of 71%4 acres
immediately north of the Chacelev-"Tirley parish boundary on the west bank of the Severn. The
northern boundary of Yellings is the Newhall Brook which further west still formed the
boundary betwceen Chaceley and Tirley in 1840, when the largest freehold proprictor in Yellings
was the dean and chapter of Westminster as successors to the medieval abbey. In addition, a late
10th century charter relating to Chaceley and an 1ith-century perambulation of Tirley both
provc that at the time of DB the Chaceley-Tirlcy boundary followed the Ncwhall Brook (then
called the *An Bourn’, a name preserved in “Tirley in the field-names ‘Ham Bourns’ south of this
stream) rlght down to tts junction with thc Scvern, thus including the Yellings area in Tirley at
that time.® The exact location of what in 1631 was ‘a common field called Ellings’ can be
determincd from the Tirley Enclosure Award and Map of 1797, which names allotment nos. 140,
55, 158, 189, 220, 222-4, 230, 235, 239, 245, 248, 250 and 275 as together comprising ‘the
meadow called Tirley Elands’, an area of 9034 acres stretching along the Severn from Haw Green
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to the modern Chaceley boundary. A further point to emerge from the Tirley Enclosure Award
1s that allotment no. 98, immediately north of no. 259, is described as ‘adjoining Old Court’, the
old cnclosure containming 12% acres immediately south of “I'he Yellings’ in Chaccley (lithe
Award ficld no. 470); since ‘court’ is normally applied in Gloucestershire to the site of a
manor-house, this was almost certainly the original centre of Ellings in 1086, at SO 847294.%¢
Nellyns in Deerhurst is not, as Smith stated, a lost name only recorded in 1718: it appears also n
deeds of 1749 and 1786 and in the Deerhurst Enclosure Award and Map of 1798 as a series of
allotments called ‘Nellings’ (nos. 422-5, 428-31) totalling 21%4 acres on the east bank of the
Severn opposite IHaw Green, to which probably should be added the adjoining mtermixcd
allotments called ‘Oakdale’, ‘Wall Meadow’, ‘Haw Meadow’ and ‘Leazenham’ (nos. 290-304,
418-33), totalling 191%4 acres.”’ Ellings in 1086 thus comprised an area of about 389 acres In
Chaceley, Deerhurst and Tirley, on both sides of the Severn, centred on the ‘Old Court’ and
“I'he Yellings’. Since the 90%4 acres forming ‘the meadow of Tirley Elands’ in 1797 secms a rather
small area for the ‘common field called Ellings’ of 1631, the original manor may well also have
comprised other lands further west of “lirley Elands’ in and before 1631, but the later
amalgamation of Ellings with Rye has successfully obliterated any place-name evidence that may
once have existed to prove this point.™

Uletone

Uletone (fol. 167¢, 36, 1) has so far escaped identification, though laylor tentatively suggested
Wotton. Since there 1s no known place — or ficld-name - such as ‘Owlton’ or ‘Woolton’ which
could be directly derived from Uletone,* the DB form must be corrupt, and since the place was in
Dudstone Hundred, the only possible locations with whose early forms 1t might be confused are
Upton St Leonards,”’, Whaddon,”! or Wotton.”* Of these, Whaddon can probably be eliminated
as the least likcly on paleographical grounds, whereas Uletone could quite casily result from the
mistranscription of either of two readings in the ‘original returns’ from which DB was compiled:
Up(e)tone tor Upton or W(e)(o)tone tor Wotton.”? Of these alternatives, Wotton is much more
probable: an inspection of the facsimile edition of DB shows that the ‘p’ of DB is unlikely to be
confused with ‘I(¢)’ of DB, since the downstroke of the ‘p’ always extends well below the line,
whereas the ‘Wo’ of DB could easily be misread as ‘Ule’ by a tired or careless scribe overlooking
the second diagonal downstroke in the ‘W’ and treating ‘o’ as a badly written ‘e’. If therefore
Uletone is presumed to be a misrendering of an original Wotone, its identification as Worton
becomes very possible. But 1s it historically likely?

The hidages recorded in DB for Upton (fol. 162d, 7, 2: 1 hide), Whaddon (fol. 168d, 53, 6: §
hides) and Wotton (fol. 170a, 70, 1: | hide) give us no help apart from confirming that Whaddon,
a complete 5 hide vill, 1s the least likely candidate for identification with Uletone. Stmilarly, the
Godric who held Ulerone before 1066 does not appear in any of these entries unless he is one of the
unnamed ‘five brothers’ who held Whaddon, whilst the location of Godric’s other estates is also
unhelpful: he was one of King kdward’s thegns and a substantial landholder in pre-Conquest
Gloucestershire, holding, besides Uletone, lands at Ampney, Dene, Ellings, Haresfield, Leonard
Stanley, Littleton, Norcott, Pinchpool, Postlip, Siddington and Wapley.”* The later tenurial
history is also unhelpful: unfortunatcly, William Froisselew, the holder of Uletone in 1086, did
not found a successful dynasty — apart from DB, he himself appears only in the Winchcombe
Survey of 1097-1101 as holding one burgess there, and i a grant to Abingdon Abbey in
1107-8;>° by the carly 13th century his descendant, William Frusselu, held only Luctone

(Littleton in Dumbleton) of the honour of Richard’s Castle and a meadow in Dumbleton which
he gave to St Peter’s, Gloucester.’® Whaddon descended from Durand of Gloucester to the earls
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the vill in 1316; the only other important landholder in Whaddon was St Peter’s, Gloucester,
who had been given 112 acres by Roger Parvus, a known subtenant of the Earl of Hereford.
between 1148 and 1158.°" The Abbot of St Peter’s also appears as the lord of Upton St Leonards
in 1316 as the result of gifts by William de Upton, Robert de Kimsbury, Henry Hereford and
John le Hunt in the 12th and 13th centuries, though there was also one carucate held in serjeantry
in 1212, which was soon after divided into three smaller holdings totalling 3V virgates, the
residue also being given to St Peter’s.”” Since we know that Humphrey’s hide in Upton was part
of the royat manor of Kiug's Barton in 1086 (fol. 1624, 7, 2), this can probably be identified wiill
the carucate held in serjeantry by Obsert de Grave in 1212, and hence later named Grove court,
the later donors to St Peter’s (apart from Henry Hereford, whose land derived from Osbert’s
daughter Sybil) probably being free tenants of King’s Barton manor holding that part of Upton
not included in Humphrey's hide. Wotton, however, is divided in 1316 between two lords. the
Abbot of St Peter’s and the Prior of St Oswald’s: St Peter’s holding undoubtedly derived from its
DB holding of Abbot’s Barton (fol. 165¢, 10, 1), together with Ford mill, land at Paygrove in
Wotton and uthes given to the abbey in 1126 by Richard Fitz Nigel and his wife Emma: in 1291
the abbey’s holdings comprised 2 carucates of demesne land, a mill and tenants’ rents and services
at Tufﬂeoy, and 6 carucates of land, 5 mills and tenants’ rents and services in the main manor of
Wotton.® In the absence of a cartulary and the paucity of other records for St Oswald’s priory,
the origin of its holding in Wotton remains obscure: in 1291 it is represented by 12 carucates of
demesne land at ‘Colewelle’, called, correctly, Tulwell in 1535.°!

Given the obscure origins of St Oswald’s holding in Wotton and the absence of later
information on either Humphrey of Maidenhill who held Wotton or William Froisselew who
held Uletone it is impossible to state with confidence which of these two holdings were later held
by St Peter’s and St Oswald’s respectively. But since Hide in Wotton is known to have been
owned by St Oswald’s priory in 1310, when ‘la Hydedych’ formed the boundary of the prior’s
property in Wotton, itis extremely probable that Humphrey of Maidenhill’s hide in 1086 became
the nucleus of the later priory manor of Tulwell, which in 1545 was granted to the Dean and
Chapter of Gloucester Cathedral. Its centre was the manor-house of Tulwel] Court near the
modern Dean’s Walk north of the City Wall: Hide lay to the east of Tulwell in Windmill Field,
names still preserved in Hyde Lane and Windmill Parade in Wotton, and was still associated
with Tulwell manor in 17th and 18th century leases. William Breakwolf’s 2 hides can also
probably be identified as Ford mill, the land of Paygrove and tithes in Wotton given to St Peter's
abbey in 1126 and subsequently merged in the abbey’s manor of Barton since William's land was
the only substantial property in the area not already held by St Peter’s abbey: apart from
Paygrove Wood, given by Henry 1 in 1109, and King’s Barton manor which came into its hands
in 1357, Richard Fitz Nigel's gift of Paygrove in 1128 was the only major local additon to the
abbey’s holdings after 1086.%

I'he Westbury-on-Severn entry

It 1s probably safe to say that no one entry in the Gloucestershire section of DB has caused as
much spilt ink as that relating to the lands abstracted from the royal manor of Westbury-on-
Severn, and that none of those who have considered it previously, except A.S. Ellis and L.].U.
Way, has emerged with credit. The relevant section of this entry (fol. 163a, 1, 11) is as follows:

‘Later on [after 1066] 6 hides were taken from this manor in Chire and in Cliftone 10 hides; in Noent and
Chingestune 8 hides; in Ladeuent 1 hide. Now the Abbot of Cormeilles, Osbern and William, sons of
Richard, hold these lands.’
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Noent 1s generally agreed to be Newent, which appcars, again as Noent, on fol. 166a, 16, 1, as 6
hides held by the abbot of Cormeilles; but Smith, Elrington and Darby all regard the remaining
places as unidentified.®” Clearly none of these commentators had conducted the necessary
bibliographical rescarch into this matter, since, had they done so, they would have found that
previous writers had satisfactorily identified all these places, though not all the details of the
entry had been adequately elucidated. As we shall sec, one detail still remains unsolved and
probably insoluble, but other lapses could and should have been avoided: Canon Taylor can be
convicted of hypocrisy and massive plagiarism, whilst even J.H. Round corrupted the text of DB
to suit his argument. In 1889 Taylor had professed himself unable to identify these places:

‘unless the separated lands lay in Newent to the west of the Severn and in Shirehampton and Clifton to the
east, I do not know where they are to be sought; Ladeuent cannot now be identified.’

Elscwhere he identified Chire as Shirehampton, Cliftone as Clifton near Bristol, and Chingestune as
Kingsweston in Henbury.®* This is of course rubbish: as he himself remarked in 1913, it involves
unwarrantably

‘the supposition that records which should really have been placed under Westbury-on-Trym have been
misplaced under Westbury-on-Severn.’¢*

[t also nvolves, in the case of Chire, the clementary linguistic howler of pronouncing the
Anglo-Norman Ch- as ‘Sh-" when every competent scholar knows (and knew) that DB’s Ch-
should be pronounced as ‘K-, and in the casc of Chingestune the historical howler of identifying it
with Kingsweston before that name came into existence in the 13th century to distinguish it from
Lawrence Weston: Kingsweston in DB is plain, unadorned Westone (fol. 163a, 1, 15); also, if one is
looking tor a king’s tun in south Gloucestershire, the obvious candidate is Thornbury, where two
of its tithings are still called Kington and Kineton.*® Having disingenuously conccaled his own
contusion of 1889, Taylor then hypocritically went on to blame A.S. Ellis, writing in 1878, for
errors which he himself fully shared:

“I'he first person who seems to have had an inkhing of the true state of the case was Mr. A.S. Ellis who . . .
referred to the identification of the Cliftune and Chire of the Westbury entry with Clifton by Bristol and
Shirehampton, remarking that in his opinion these two places should rather be identified with
Clifton-on-Teme in Worcestershire and Kyre. . . If Mr. Ellis had gone on to refer to the Domesday entries
regarding these two places he would no doubt have put the matter right thirty-five years ago.™’

Quite why A.S. Ellis, writing on “I'he Manorial History of Clifton’ (ncar Bristol) should need to
deal in extenso with the history ot Clifton-on-Teme 1s not clear; it is even less clear why what Ellis
failed, according to laylor, to do in 1878 could not equally well have been done by Taylor
himself in 1889. The real reason is of course that Taylor had not thought of doing so himself in
1889 and had only realized ‘the true state of the casc’ on a belated (and utterly unacknowledged)
reading of ]J.H. Round’s introduction to the Herefordshire Domesday published in 1908. It was
Round who 1dentified Chire as Kyre and Chingestune as Kingstone in Weston-under-Penyard;®®
Taylor was responsible only for identifying Ladeuent as Edvin Loach in Worcestershire.
However, even Round erred in the details of his identification, because he only considered the
two consecutive entries for the 3 hides of Clifton-on-Teme and the 3 hides in Kyre Wyard (fol.
176d, Worcs, 19, 3, 4), overlooked two other Kyre entries, and in order to get his DB arithmetic
to agree, corrupted the Gloucestershire text to read ‘6 hides. . . in Chire and in Cliftone’*® an
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astoundingly unscholarly procedure for onc never backward in coming forward to criticise other
historians for precisely that sort of crror. The true route to the final solution of the DB arithmetic
should be credited to L.J.U. Way, who pointed out that the entries for Ham Castle, Shelsley
Walsh and Lower Sapey, all of which were later chapelries of Clifton-on-Teme, also had to be
taken into account, though cven he could not adduce more than 21 out of the 25 hides severed
from Westbury-on-Severn.”’

"T'he correet solution to this puzzle can now be revealed:

&
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Worcs, 3, 2); + 3 hides in KYRE WYARD (Chare) held by Osbern son of Richard (folj
176d, Worces, 19, 4); + 1 hidc in KYRE PARV A (Cuer) held by Osbern son of Richard (fol.
176d, Worcs. 19, 7); total 6 hides.

‘e Cliftone 16 hides’ = 3 hides in CLIFTON-ON-TEME (Clistune) held by Osbern son of
Richard (fol. 176d, Wores, 19, 3); + 1Y2 hides in LIT'TLE STANFORD (Stanford) held by
Osbern son of Richard (fol. 176d, Worcs, 19, 5): + 1 hide in SHELSLEY WALSH
(Caldesler) held by Osbern son of Richard (fol. 176d, Worcs, 19, 6); + 1 hide in HAM
CASTLL (Hamme) held by Osbern son of Richard (fol. 176d, Wores, 19, 8); + 3 hides in
LLOWER SAPLY (S4pie) held by Osbern son of Richard (fol. 176d, Worcs, 19, 9); + V5 hide
in T ENBURY (Tametdeberie) held by the Abbey of Cormeilles (fol. 174b, Worcs, 6, 1); total
10 hides.

1 Noent and Chingestune 8 hides’ = 6 hides in NEWENT (Noent) held by the Abbey of
Cormeilles (fol. 166a, 16, 1); + 2 hides in KINGSTONE in WESTON-UNDER-
PENYARD (Chingestune) held by the Abbey of Cormeilles (fol. 182d, Herefs, 3, 1); total 8
hides.

'In Ladeuent | hide’ = 1 hide in EDVIN LOACH (Edevent) held by Osbern son of Richard (fol.
176d, Wores, 19, 11).

Though the arithmetic of DB is now satisfied, it remains neeessary to document some of the
above cntrics, and to outline the remaining, unsolved problems. ‘The inclusion of Lattle Stanford,
later Noverton, is justificd by the fact, unnoticed by 1..J.U. Way’s Worcestershire informants,
that this too was a chapelry of Clifton-on-Teme,”! as indeced Edvin Loach had once been.”? The
inclusion of the Abbey of Cormcilles’ half-hide in Tenbury may be unnceessary if we care to rely
instead on what onc eminent historian has termed ‘that contempt for small fractions which is
written large all over Domesday’,”* but it could well be the arca later known as Kyre Wood in
Tenbury, adjoining Kyre Wyard on the south, from which it is separated only by Kyre Brook.”
A more serious problem is that whilst William son of Richard, alias William Goizenboded (fol.
167b, 34, 8), 1s not involved as a holder of any of the 25 hides in question — indeed he held no land
in Herefordshire and only | hide at Chauson in Salwarpe in Worcestershire (fol. 177¢, Worcs,
23, 1) which cannot be linked to the Westbury entry at all - 2 hides at Kyre Parva arc held in 1086
by the Bishop of Hereford, who is not mentioned in the Westbury entry. There is also no
cvidence that the bishops of Hereford later held land in Kyre Parva,”® but since the western
section of Kyre Parva adjoins Bockleton on the north and is immediately preceded by the
bishop’s manor of Bockleton in DB (fol. 174b, Worcs, 3, 1) it could easily have been absorbed in
Bockleton after 1086. Most probably and most simply the compilers of the Westbury entry,
whether the local reeve or the hundredal jurors is immaterial, erred in associating William with
his brother Osbern and in omitting Bishop Robert from the holders of Kyre: it would hardly be
surprising if men of Gloucestershire were not au fait with tenurial conditions in the north-west of
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Worcestershire 40 miles from Westbury-on-Severn. It is also casy to see why, in this context, the
name of William Goizenboded would spring to their minds naturally enough in association with
his brother Osbern, since certainly in Gloucestershire he did hold land which had been part of

Westbury before 1066 (fol. 167b, 34, 12).

T'he Herefordshire entries

The second group of entries that can conveniently be considered together are the seven places In
the Forest of Dean area entered in the Hercfordshire section of DB; the eighth Gloucestershire
place entered under Herefordshire in DB is clearly Forthampton.”® These are recorded in the
following terms:
EH 2 ‘In Niware 22 hides which used to come and do service, but Roger de Pistres in the
time of Earl William made them part of Gloucestershire.’ (fol. 181b, Herefs, 1, 73).
EH 3 ‘In Brocote 2% hides. Aelfric, Alfward and Brictsi held them as two manors. They were
waste and up to now are in the King’s wood.” (fol. 181b, Herets. 1, 74).
FH 4 “There also Brictric held one manor as | hide, and Earl Godwin held Stantun, one
manor, as | hide. They were waste and up to now are in the King’s wood.’ (fol. 181D,
Herefs, 1, 75).
EH 5 ‘Earl Harold held this manor [Eaton Bishop] and Earl William gave it to Bishop Walter
of Hereford for land which is now the market of Hercford and for 3 hides of Lidenegie.’
(fol. 181c, Herets, 2, 6).
EH 6 ‘In Wiboldingtune 3 hides which rightly belong to the bishopric. They are waste and
were waste. A fishery there.’ (fol. 182a, Herefs, 2, 20).
EH 7 ‘The same William son of Baderon holds Rwirdin and Solomon from him. Hadwig held
it. 4 hides which pay tax. On the lordship there could be 3 ploughs.
| smallholder, 2 villagers and | Welshman, with 3 ploughs.
The value i1s and was 30s.” (fol. 185¢c, Herefs, 15, 2).
EH 8 ‘Thurstan son of Rolf holds Alwintune. Brictric held it before 1066. 6 hides. In lordship
2 ploughs.
12 villagers with 9 ploughs.
They render 20 blooms of iron and 8 sesters of honey. 5 slaves. A mull at 40d.
The value was 20s; now £4<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>